關於優美樹猜想之研究

Study of the Graceful Tree Conjecture

碩士論文



東海大學應用數學研究所

研究生:楊振昌

指導教授:王道明

中華民國一百零二年七月

Study of the Graceful Tree Conjecture

Graduate: Cheng-Chang Yang

Adviser: Dr. Tao-Ming Wang



A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate School of

Tunghai University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for

The Degree of Master of Science in

Department of Applied Mathematics

東海大學

應用數學系

碩士學位口試委員審定書

本系碩士班 楊振昌 君

所提論文 Study of the Graceful Tree Conjecture

(關於優美樹猜想之研究)

合於碩士班資格水準,業經本委員會評審通過,特此證明。

口試委員:	E EN GRD.
	谏强迁
指導教授:	ZZWD
所 長:	E E
中華民國	一〇二年六月十九日

誌謝

感謝指導老師王道明博士的悉心教導,讓我在組合數學領域能夠更精 進,也讓我確定論文的研究方向,更在論文的撰寫上提供很大的幫助。

謝謝張光輝同學的協助,讓我順利完成了論文的寫作與報告,也感謝碩 班的同學們,讓我在這兩年內過得很充實、愉快。

最後,感謝奶奶、母親、老婆以及兩個可愛的兒子,有您們在背後支持 著我,讓我在精神上獲得很大的支持,謝謝您們。



Abstract

The well known Graceful Tree Conjecture(GTC) claimed that all trees are graceful, which still remains open until today. It was proved in 1999 by H. Broersma and C. Hoede that there is an equivalent conjecture for GTC that all trees containing a perfect matching is strongly graceful. In this thesis we verify by extending the above result that there exist infinitely many equivalent versions of the GTC. More precisely, for a fixed graceful tree T_k of order k, we show that for each $k \ge 2$, the conjecture that all trees containing a graceful T_k -factor is strongly T_k -graceful is equivalent to the conjecture that all trees are graceful. More applications are also included by way of identifying new classes of graceful graphs. In particular we verify infinitely many equivalent T_k -version conjectures of GTC for those trees of diameter no more than $2\lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2}\rceil + 5$, where $D(T_k)$ is the diameter of T_k .

Publication From This Thesis

 Tao-Ming Wang, Cheng-Chang Yang, Infinitely Many Equivalent Versions of the Graceful Tree Conjecture, Submitted, 2013.



Contents

1	Introduction		1
	1.1	Preliminary Background	1
	1.2	Variants of β -Valuations by Rosa $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	3
	1.3	Results of Broersma and Hoede	4
2	Ma	in Results	6
	2.1	Graceful Factors and Strongly Gracefulness	6
	2.2	Infinitely Many Equivalences	8
3	Apj	plications	12
	3.1	Graceful <i>m</i> -Distance Trees	12
	3.2	Strongly Graceful Trees with Bounded Diameters	14
	3.3	α -Labeling and α -Factor	15
4	Cor	acluding Remarks	19
	4.1	Summary of Results	19
	4.2	Further Studies	19

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Preliminary Background

Throughout this paper, by a graph we mean an undirected finite graph without multiple edges and loops. All terminologies and notations on graph theory not mentioned or defined here can be referred to the textbook by D. West [23]. Let G be a graph with q edges. A one-to-one function $f: V(G) \rightarrow \{0, 1, \dots, q\}$ from the vertex set V(G) (if any) is said to be a **graceful labeling** of G, if the absolute value |f(u) - f(v)| is assigned to the edge uv as its label and the resulting edge labels are pairwise distinct. This is equivalent to requiring the set of induced edge labels is exactly $\{1, 2, \dots, q\}$. A graph admitting such a graceful labeling is called a **graceful graph**. We focus on the graceful labeling of trees in this paper however. We reformulate the definition of graceful labeling for trees as follows:

Definition 1.1.1. A nontrivial tree T with p vertices and q edges is called **graceful** if there exists a bijection f from the vertex set V(T) onto $\{1, 2, \dots, p\}$ such that the induced edge labels are exactly $1, 2, \dots, q$, where the induced

edge label for an edge uv is the absolute value of the difference of two end vertex labels |f(u) - f(v)|.

Originally A. Rosa called a function $f \ a \ \beta$ -valuation of a graph G with qedges if f is an injection from the vertices of G to the set $\{0, 1, \dots, q\}$ such that, when each edge xy is assigned the label |f(x) - f(y)|, the resulting edge labels are distinct. S. W. Golomb subsequently [10] called such labelings graceful and this is now the popular term. A. Rosa introduced β -valuations as well as a number of other labelings as tools for decomposing the complete graph into isomorphic subgraphs. For example he defined an α -labeling (or α -valuation) as a graceful labeling with the additional property that there exists an integer k so that for each edge xy either $f(x) \le k < f(y)$ or $f(y) \le$ k < f(x). (Other names for such labelings are balanced, interlaced, and strongly graceful.) Also, a graph with an α -labeling is necessarily bipartite and therefore can not contain a cycle of odd length.

In particular, β -valuations originated as a means of attacking the conjecture of Ringel [19] that K_{2n+1} can be decomposed into 2n + 1 subgraphs that are all isomorphic to a given tree with n edges. For this reason A. Rosa raised the **Graceful Tree Conjecture(GTC)** (which implies the conjecture of Ringel)that every tree is graceful [20], which is one of most challenging problems in graph theory and remains wide open until today.

Among the trees known to be graceful are: caterpillars (a caterpillar is a tree with the property that the removal of its endpoints leaves a path); trees with at most 4 end-vertices; trees with diameter at most 5; symmetrical trees (i.e., a rooted tree in which every level contains vertices of the same degree); rooted trees where the roots have odd degree and the lengths of the paths from the root to the leaves differ by at most one and all the internal vertices have the same parity; rooted trees with diameter D where every vertex has even degree except for one root and the leaves in level $\lfloor \frac{D}{2} \rfloor$; rooted trees with diameter D where every vertex has even degree except for one root and the leaves in level $\lfloor \frac{D}{2} \rfloor$; rooted trees with diameter D where every vertex has even degree except for one root and the leaves in level $\lfloor \frac{D}{2} \rfloor$; rooted trees with diameter D where every vertex has even degree except for one root and the leaves in level $\lfloor \frac{D}{2} \rfloor$; rooted trees with diameter D where every vertex has even degree except for one root and the leaves, which are in level $\lfloor \frac{D}{2} \rfloor$; rooted trees with diameter D where every vertex has even degree except for one root, the vertices in level $\lfloor \frac{D}{2} \rfloor - 1$, and the leaves which are in level $\lfloor \frac{D}{2} \rfloor$, etc. Among other results, in 1999

Broersma and Hoede [4] proved that the following conjecture is equivalent to the Graceful Tree Conjecture: Every tree containing a perfect matching is strongly graceful, where a tree T on n vertices is strongly graceful if Tcontains a perfect matching M and T admits a graceful labeling f such that f(u) + f(v) = n + 1 for every edge $uv \in M$. We generalize the above result to obtain infinitely many equivalent versions of GTC. In this article we make the following strongly T_k -graceful tree conjecture (SGTC) and prove that the GTC is equivalent to the SGTC.

Conjecture. Every nontrivial tree admitting a graceful T_k -factor is strongly T_k -graceful, where T_k is fixed tree of order $k \ge 2$ with graceful labeling.

The related terminology here, such as a graceful T_k -factor and strongly T_k graceful-ness, will be defined in next chapter. We therefore obtain infinitely
many equivalent versions of GTC, since T_k could be assigned to any given
known graceful trees, say paths P_k , caterpillars, etc., in particular the case $T_k = P_2$ coincides with previous result of Broersma and Hoede. For more
updated information about graceful graphs see the dynamic survey by J.
Gallian [9].

1.2 Variants of β -Valuations by Rosa

In addition to graceful labeling, which Rosa called β -valuation, he also introduced three other kinds of valuations: α , σ , and ρ -valuation. In what follows we refer to them as labelings rather than valuations. We say that these four labelings are hierarchically related and we write that as $\alpha < \beta < \sigma < \rho$, where *a*-labeling is also a *b*-labeling if a < b. For example, a labeling that satisfies the requirements for α -labeling also qualifies as a β , σ and ρ -labeling, and every σ -labeling is also a ρ -labeling. Rosa defined these four labelings as follows [20]:

1. α -labeling of a graph G with n vertices and m edges is a one-to-one mapping f from the set of vertices of G to the set $\{0, 1, 2, \dots, m\}$

such that all induced edge labels are distinct, where the induced edge label of the edge uv is |f(u) - f(v)|, and such that there exists a number $x \in \{0, 1, 2, \dots, m\}$ such that for an arbitrary edge uv either $f(u) \leq x < f(v)$ or $f(v) \leq x < f(u)$.

- 2. β -labeling of a graph G with n vertices and m edges is a one-to-one mapping f from the set of vertices of G to the set $\{0, 1, 2, \dots, m\}$ such that all induced edge labels are distinct, where the induced edge label of the edge uv is |f(u) f(v)|. In 1972 S. W. Golomb independently introduced the same labeling and called it graceful.
- 3. σ -labeling of a graph G with n vertices and m edges is a one-to-one mapping f from the set of vertices of G to the set $\{0, 1, 2, \dots, 2m\}$ such that all induced edge labels are distinct and in the range $\{0, 1, 2, \dots, m\}$, where the induced edge label of the edge uv is |f(u) - f(v)|.
- 4. ρ -labeling of a graph G with n vertices and m edges is a one-to-one mapping f from the set of vertices of G to the set $\{0, 1, 2, \dots, 2m\}$ such that the set of induced edge labels is $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m\}$, where $x_i = i$ or $x_i = 2m + 1 i$.

1.3 Results of Broersma and Hoede

Broersma and Hoede proved in [4] that the conjecture that very tree containing a perfect matching is strongly graceful is equivalent to the Graceful Tree Conjecture. We recall their methods in this section.

Definition 1.3.1. The spike-tree spik(T) of a tree T on n vertices is obtained by adding n new vertices to T along with n edges. The con-tree con(T) of a tree T with a perfect matching M is obtained from T by contracting the edges of M. The way Broersma and Hoede proved the equivalence of the two conjectures is by first using a graceful labeling of the con-tree of a tree with a perfect matching to show that a tree with a perfect matching is strongly graceful. This is done by finding vertex labels that sum to n - 1 and have absolute difference as prescribed.

The other direction is proved by taking the spike-tree Spik(T) of an arbitrary tree T. Spik(T) is strongly graceful since it has a perfect matching, and has 2n vertices. Define the two sets matched by the perfect matching to be those containing odd and even labels. By giving labels to vertices of T according to half the even vertex label of the corresponding edge in the strong graceful labeling of Spik(T), one produces a graceful labeling of T.

Another result that Broersma and Hoede obtained is the following:

Lemma 1.3.2. Let T be a tree containing a perfect matching and let con(T)

be the con-tree of T. Then, T is strongly graceful if and only if the spike-tree

Spik(T) with con-tree T is strongly graceful.

This result is that, in order to prove the Graceful Tree Conjecture, it is sufficient to show that every spike-tree is strongly graceful. However, as the authors observed, since a strongly graceful labeling of a spike-tree immediately yields a graceful labeling of its con- tree, this is not a substantial improvement. Moreover, the label 1 cannot be assigned to an arbitrary vertex of a spike-tree, the same obstacle that arises in attempts to prove the original Graceful Tree Conjecture.

Another result that Broersma and Hoede proved in [4] is the following:

Theorem 1.3.3. Every tree containing a perfect matching and having a

caterpillar as its con-tree is strongly graceful.

Thus, trees meeting this hypothesis can be used to generate new strongly graceful trees with the original tree as their con-trees, by successively taking the spike-trees of a sequence of trees. This procedure generates what Broersma and Hoede called strongly graceful long-edged caterpillars.

Chapter 2

Main Results

2.1 Graceful Factors and Strongly Graceful-

ness

We first define related terminologies in order to describe our main results. Let $T_k = (V(T_k), E(T_k))$ be a fixed tree of order k with a given graceful labeling λ . Without loss of generality we may name the vertices by assuming $\lambda(v_j) = j$ for $v_j \in V(T_k)$ and $1 \leq j \leq k$, such that the differences $|\lambda(v_i) - \lambda(v_j)| = |i-j|$ are all distinct for $v_i v_j \in E(T_k)$. Assume that a tree T of order nk admits a T_k -factor, namely a spanning subgraph $T_k^* = T_k^1 \oplus T_k^2 \oplus \cdots \oplus T_k^n$, where $T_k^i \simeq T_k$ are vertex disjoint isomorphic copies of T_k for each $1 \leq i \leq n$. As in T_k we name the vertices in T_k^* in a similar fashion. Let $v_{ij} \in V(T_k^i)$ be the corresponding vertex of $v_j \in V(T_k)$ via the isomorphism of $T_k^i \cong T_k$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$ and $1 \leq j \leq k$. Note that by the notation $d(H_1, H_2) = \min d(h_1, h_2)$ where $h_1 \in V(H_1)$ and $h_2 \in V(H_2)$, we denote the distance for two subgraphs H_1 and H_2 of G.

Definition 2.1.1. Let T_k be a fixed tree of order k with a given graceful

labeling. We say a tree T of order nk admits a **graceful** T_k -factor, if it contains a T_k -factor as stated above, and also for each edge e in $E(T) - E(T_k^*)$ there exist T_k^s and T_k^t with $d(T_k^s, T_k^t) = 1$, where $1 \le s \ne t \le n$, and a unique $j, 1 \le j \le k$, such that $e = v_{sj}v_{tj}$.

Remark. Note that in order for a tree T of order nk to admit a graceful T_k -factor, one simply requires that for each of the extra n-1 edges in $E(T) - E(T_k^*)$, their end vertices should be in the corresponding positions of both copies of T_k^i 's.

In the following we define the strongly T_k -graceful-ness for a tree T with a graceful T_k -factor. We denote the graceful T_k -factor of T by $T_k^* = T_k^1 \oplus$ $T_k^2 \oplus \cdots \oplus T_k^n$. Since trees are bipartite, we may assume the bi-partitions of $V(T_k) = A \cup B$ and $V(T_k^i) = A_i \cup B_i$ for $1 \le i \le n$, where $A_i = \{v_{ij} \in$ $V(T_k^i) : v_j \in A\}$ contains corresponding vertices with that in A, and $B_i =$ $\{v_{ij} \in V(T_k^i) : v_j \in B\}$ contains corresponding vertices with that in B. Obviously $|A_i| = |A|$ and $|B_i| = |B|$ for each i.

Definition 2.1.2. Let T_k be a fixed tree of order k with a given graceful labeling and T be a tree of order nk with a graceful T_k -factor, where the graceful T_k -factor of T is denoted as above by $T_k^* = T_k^1 \oplus T_k^2 \oplus \cdots \oplus T_k^n$. Also let the bi-partition of $V(T_k^i) = A_i \cup B_i$ for $1 \le i \le n$ be as above. Then we say a bijection f (vertex labeling) from the vertex set V(T) onto $\{1, 2, \cdots, |V(T)|\}$ is a **strongly** T_k -graceful labeling of T if (1) f satisfies the following conditions:

$$f(v_{ij}) = j + (i-1)k$$
, if $v_{ij} \in A_i$,

$$f(v_{ij}) = j + (n-i)k, \text{ if } v_{ij} \in B_i.$$

for $v_{ij} \in V(T_k^i) = A_i \cup B_i$, where $1 \le i \le n$ and $1 \le j \le k$. And (2) f is a graceful labeling.

Remark. Note that $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} (A_i \cup B_i)$ is exactly $\{1, 2, \cdots, nk\}$.

Definition 2.1.3. We say a tree T' of order n is a **contraction tree** of the tree T of order nk admitting a graceful T_k -factor T_k^* , if it can be obtained by using the T_k^i copies as vertices of T', and two copies of T_k^s and T_k^t are adjacent if $d(T_k^s, T_k^t) = 1$ for $1 \le s, t \le n$.

Remark. Note that we contract edges in one copy of T_k^i to one vertex for each *i* to form the contraction tree. Also the edges of the contraction tree T' are in one-to-one correspondence with the edges in $E(T) - E(T_k^*)$.

2.2 Infinitely Many Equivalences

We then have the following result:

Theorem 2.2.1. Let T be a tree of order nk admitting a graceful T_k -factor for a given graceful tree T_k of order k. If the contraction tree T' of the tree T is graceful, T is strongly T_k -graceful.

Proof.

With notations defined above, let f be a vertex labeling of T such that $f(v_{ij}) = \lambda(v_j) + (i-1)k = j + (i-1)k$, if $v_{ij} \in A_i$, and $f(v_{ij}) = \lambda(v_j) + (n-1)k = j + (i-1)k$.

i)k = j + (n - i)k, if $v_{ij} \in B_i$ for $1 \le i \le n$ and $1 \le j \le k$. To show f is strongly T_k -graceful, it suffices to show that f is graceful.

Let the graceful labeling of T' be λ' , and identify $u_i \in V(T')$ with T_k^i via $\lambda'(u_i) = i$ for each $1 \leq i \leq n$. For an edge $u_i u_j \in E(T')$ is in oneto-one correspondence with some unique edge $v_{i,m}v_{j,m} \in E(T) - E(T_k^*)$ where $v_{i,m} \in V(T_k^i)$ and $v_{j,m} \in V(T_k^j)$. Note that $v_{i,m}$ and $v_{j,m}$ are either simultaneously in A_i and A_j respectively, or simultaneously in B_i and B_j respectively. Thus for edges in $E(T) - E(T_k^*)$, the induced edge labels $|f(v_{i,m}) - f(v_{j,m})| = k|i - j|$ are distinct, since $|\lambda'(u_i) - \lambda'(u_j)| = |i - j|$ are distinct for edges $u_i u_j \in E(T')$. Also note that particularly the induced edge labels $|f(v_{i,m}) - f(v_{j,m})|$ in $E(T) - E(T_k^*)$ are multiples of k.

On the other hand, we consider the remaining edge labels for edges in $E(T_k^*)$. Assume $v_{i,a}v_{i,b} \in E(T_k^i)$ and $v_{j,c}v_{j,d} \in E(T_k^j)$, where $v_{i,a} \in A_i$, $v_{i,b} \in B_i$, $v_{j,c} \in A_j$, and $v_{j,d} \in B_j$, for $1 \le i, j \le n$ and $1 \le a, b, c, d \le k$. We prove in the following that the induced edge labels are all distinct over the edges in T_k^* . Assume $(i, a, b) \ne (j, c, d)$. Suppose on the contrary that $|f(v_{i,a}) - f(v_{i,b})| = |f(v_{j,c}) - f(v_{j,d})|$. Then there are two cases:

Case 1:
$$(n - 2i + 1)k + (b - a) = (n - 2j + 1)k + (d - c).$$

 $\Rightarrow 2(j - i)k = -(b - a) + (d - c).$
 $\Rightarrow 2(j - i)k = -(b - a) + (d - c) = 0 \text{ (since } -2(k - 1) \le -(b - a) + (d - c) \le 2(k - 1).)$
 $\Rightarrow i = j, a = c, b = d \text{ since } T_k \cong T_k^i \cong T_k^j \text{ is graceful. A contradiction.}$

Case 2:
$$(n-2i+1)k + (b-a) = -[(n-2j+1)k + (d-c)].$$

 $\Rightarrow 2(n-j-i+1)k = -[(b-a) + (d-c)].$
 $\Rightarrow 2(n-j-i+1)k = -[(b-a) + (d-c)] = 0 \text{ (since } -2(k-1) \le -[(b-a) + (d-c)] \le 2(k-1).)$

However (b-a) + (d-c) = 0 is impossible, since if a = c and b = d, then 2(b-a) = 0, a contradiction because $v_a \in A$ and $v_b \in B$. Otherwise $a \neq c$ or $b \neq d$, that is $v_a v_b$ and $v_c v_d$ are two distinct edges in T_k , hence $|a-b| \neq |c-d|$ because T_k is graceful. Therefore (b-a) + (d-c) cannot be 0.

Therefore $|f(v_{i,a}) - f(v_{i,b})| \neq |f(v_{j,c}) - f(v_{j,d})|$ whenever $(i, a, b) \neq (j, c, d)$, that is, the induced edge labels are all distinct for edges in $E(T_k^*)$. Furthermore, it is not hard to see that these induced edge labels are not multiples of k, since $|f(v_{i,a}) - f(v_{i,b})| = |(a-b) + (2i - n - 1)k|$ and $-(k-1) \leq (a-b) \leq (k-1)$. Combining all cases above, we see that all induced edge labels are all distinct, that is, f is a graceful labeling, hence a strongly T_k -graceful labeling. \Box

Conversely we have the following:

Theorem 2.2.2. Let T be a tree of order nk admitting a graceful T_k -factor for a given graceful tree T_k of order k. If T is strongly T_k -graceful, then the contraction tree T' of the tree T is graceful.

Proof. Let f be the strongly T_k -graceful labeling of T defined as above. Identify T_k^i with a vertex u_i in T' for each $1 \leq i \leq n$ and assign the label i to the vertex u_i in T', via $\lambda(u_i) = i$. As above for an edge $u_i u_j \in E(T')$ is in one-to-one correspondence with some unique edge $v_{i,m}v_{j,m} \in E(T) - E(T_k^*)$ where $v_{i,m} \in V(T_k^i)$ and $v_{j,m} \in V(T_k^j)$. Thus the induced edge label $|f(v_{i,m}) - f(v_{j,m})| = k|i - j|$ are all distinct since f is strongly T_k -graceful. Therefore $|i - j| = |\lambda(u_i) - \lambda(u_j)|$ are all distinct, hence λ is graceful.

Here we are in a position to state our main result:

Theorem 2.2.3. The Graceful Tree Conjecture **GTC** is equivalent to the

Strongly Graceful Tree Conjecture **SGTC** for $k \ge 2$.

Proof.

 $(\mathbf{GTC} \Rightarrow \mathbf{SGTC})$

Assume T is an arbitrary tree with a graceful T_k -factor. Then its contraction

tree T' is a tree, which is graceful by **GTC**. Therefore by Theorem 2.2.1, we see T is strongly T_k -graceful.

 $(\mathbf{SGTC} \Rightarrow \mathbf{GTC})$

Assume T is an arbitrary tree. Consider the extension \tilde{T} of the tree T by attaching one copy of T_k at each vertex of T on the same corresponding positions, say attaching the first (with the vertex order determined by the graceful-ness) vertex of T_k if one will, which makes \tilde{T} to be a tree with a graceful T_k -factor, and its contraction tree is T. By **SGTC** the extension \tilde{T} admits a strongly T_k -graceful labeling f, thus the contraction tree T is also graceful by Theorem 2.2.2.

Example 2.2.4. When $T_k = P_2$, the above Theorem reduces to previous result of Broersma and Hoede [4], which is the equivalence of the GTC and the conjecture that every tree with a perfect matching is strongly graceful.



Chapter 3

Applications

3.1 Graceful *m*-Distance Trees

In this section we make use of above results to identify new classes of strongly T_k -graceful trees, hence graceful graphs. First we need the following definition:

Definition 3.1.1. Let m be a non-negative integer. A tree T is called an m-distance tree if it becomes a path after at least m recursive steps of leaf removal, where one step of leaf removal for a tree T means removing all leaves from T.

Remark. Therefore a 0-distance tree is a path, a 1-distance tree is a caterpillar (not a path), and a 2-distance tree is a lobster (neither a caterpillar nor a path).

Lemma 3.1.2. Let T_k be a graceful tree with diameter $D(T_k)$, and T be a mdistance tree with a graceful T_k -factor. Let T' be the contraction m'-distance tree of T. Then $m \ge \lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + m'$.

Proof. Note that it takes at least $\lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + 1$ steps of removing leaves from T, in order to remove one leaf of T'. Then we see that for T with a graceful T_k -factor, one needs at least $\lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + 1 + (m'-1) = \lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + m'$ steps of removing leaves to make T become a path. Then $m \ge \lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + m'$.

Theorem 3.1.3. Let T_k be a graceful tree with diameter $D(T_k)$, and T be an m-distance tree with a graceful T_k -factor. If T is an m-distance tree for $m \leq \lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + 1$, then T is strongly T_k -graceful.

Proof. It suffices to show that the contraction tree T' of the *m*-distance tree T is either 0 or 1-distance tree, since paths or caterpillars are known graceful, then by Theorem 2.2.1 we are done. Therefore we assume that the contraction tree T' is a m'-distance tree for $m' \ge 2$. By Lemma 3.1.2, one needs at least $\lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + m' \ge \lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + 2$ steps of removing leaves to make T become a path. This is a contradiction since T is an *m*-distance tree for $m \le \lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + 1$. Therefore we are done. **Example 3.1.4.** When $T_k = P_2$, and note also that $D(P_2) = 1$, the above theorem implies that all lobsters with a perfect matching is graceful, a result previously shown in [17].

3.2 Strongly Graceful Trees with Bounded Di-

ameters

In 2009 B. Yao et al. [25] showed that all trees admitting a perfect matching (that is admitting a graceful P_2 -factor) of diameter $D \leq 5$ are strongly graceful. We improve the result with the following:

Theorem 3.2.1. All trees admitting a perfect matching of diameter $D \leq 7$ is strongly graceful.

In fact we prove a more general situation as follows, which verifies the Strongly T_k -Graceful Tree Conjecture (SGTC) for such trees with diameter no more than a bound determined by the diameter of T_k :

Lemma 3.2.2. Let T be a tree with a graceful T_k -factor, and with diameter D(T). Let T' be the contraction tree of T with diameter D(T'). Then $D(T) \leq 2\lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2}\rceil + D(T')$.

Proof. There exists a path P of length D(T') in T'. Consider the pull back

of the path P in T, its length is at least $2\lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2}\rceil + D(T')$, where the part $2\lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2}\rceil$ is contributed by looking at the pull back of the two end vertices (two copies of T_k 's) of the path P. Then $D(T) \leq 2\lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2}\rceil + D(T')$. \Box

Theorem 3.2.3. Let T be a tree with a graceful T_k -factor, and with diameter D(T). Then T is strongly T_k -graceful if $D(T) \le 2 \lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + 5$.

Proof.

It suffices to show by Theorem 2.2.1 that the diameter of the contraction tree T' satisfies $D(T') \leq 5$ since all trees of diameter no more than 5 is graceful as proved in [12]. Suppose that $D(T') \geq 6$, then by Lemma 3.2.2 $D(T) \geq 2 \lceil \frac{D(T_k)}{2} \rceil + 6$, a contradiction.

Remark. Note that in case of $T_k = P_2$, the diameter $D(P_2) = 1$. Thus Theorem 3.2.3 reduces to Theorem 3.2.1, which generalizes previous result in [25].

3.3 α -Labeling and α -Factor

It is known that α -labeling is a stronger graceful labeling with additional balanced property. We see that an α -labeling of a tree T of order k is a graceful labeling f with the additional property that there exists an integer $m, 1 \le m \le k$, so that for the bipartition of $V(T) = A \cup B$ one has that $f(A) = \{1, 2, \dots, m\}$ and $f(B) = \{m + 1, \dots, k\}$.

Definition 3.3.1. A tree T is **equitable** if for the bipartition of $V(T) = A \cup B$ one has that $||A| - |B|| \le 1$.

We call a graceful T_k -factor to be an α -factor if T_k is admitting an α labeling. Then one has the following result to tell when a tree with an α -factor admits an α -labeling:

Theorem 3.3.2. Let T_k be a fixed tree of order k admitting an α -labeling. Assume that T is a tree of order nk with a graceful T_k -factor (an α -factor), and its contraction tree T' of order n admits an α -labeling. Let f be the associated strongly T_k -graceful labeling. Then T' is equitable if and only if f is an α -labeling.

Proof. With notations defined above, let f be a vertex labeling of T such that $f(v_{ij}) = \lambda(v_j) + (i-1)k = j + (i-1)k$, if $v_{ij} \in A_i$, and $f(v_{ij}) = \lambda(v_j) + (n-i)k = j + (n-i)k$, if $v_{ij} \in B_i$ for $1 \le i \le n$ and $1 \le j \le k$. Note that the bi-partition of $V(T_k^i)$ is $A_i \cup B_i$. Also let the graceful labeling of T' be λ' , and identify $u_i \in V(T')$ with T_k^i via $\lambda'(u_i) = i$ for each $1 \le i \le n$.

Let the bi-partitions of $V(T_k)$ and V(T') be $A \cup B$ and $A' \cup B'$ respectively. Since T_k and T' both admit an α -labeling, we assume λ and λ' be their graceful labelings respectively, and also there are two constants k_1 and k_2 such that $\{\lambda(u) \mid u \in A\} = \{1, 2, \dots, k_1\}, \{\lambda(u) \mid u \in B\} = \{k_1 + 1, k_1 + 2, \dots, k_1 + k\},$ and $\{\lambda'(u) \mid u \in A'\} = \{1, 2, \dots, k_2\}, \{\lambda'(u) \mid u \in B'\} = \{k_2 + 1, k_2 + 2, \dots, n\}$ respectively. Without loss of generality, one may assume $|A'| \ge |B'|$.

With notations defined here and that mentioned before, we see $\lambda'(u_i) = i \leq k_2$ for $u_i \in A'$ corresponding to T_k^i , hence

$$f(v_{ij}) = j + (i-1)k \le k_1 + (k_2 - 1)k, \text{ if } v_{ij} \in A_i,$$
(3.3.1)

$$f(v_{ij}) = j + (n-i)k \ge (k_1 + 1) + (n - k_2)k, \text{ if } v_{ij} \in B_i.$$
(3.3.2)

Also we see $\lambda'(u_i) = i \ge k_2 + 1$ for $u_i \in B'$ corresponding to T_k^i , hence

$$f(v_{ij}) = j + (i-1)k \ge k_2k + 1, \text{ if } v_{ij} \in A_i,$$
(3.3.3)

$$f(v_{ij}) = j + (n-i)k \le (n-k_2)k, \text{ if } v_{ij} \in B_i.$$
(3.3.4)

From above inequalities (3.3.1), (3.3.2), (3.3.3), and (3.3.4), we have the following:

T' is equitable

$$\iff 0 \le |A'| - |B'| \le 1.$$
$$\iff 0 \le k_2 - (n - k_2) \le 1.$$
$$\iff n - k_2 \ge k_2 - 1 \text{ and } k_2 \ge n - k_2.$$

 $\iff \max\{k_1 + (k_2 - 1)k, (n - k_2)k\} < \min\{(k_1 + 1) + (n - k_2)k, k_2k + 1\}.$ $\iff \max\{f(v_{ij}) | v_{ij} \in A^*\} < \min\{f(v_{ij}) | v_{ij} \in B^*\}.$

 $\iff T$ admits an α -labeling.

where $A^* = \{v_{ij} | (v_{ij} \in A_i) \land (u_i \in A'), \text{ or } (v_{ij} \in B_i) \land (u_i \in B'), 1 \le i \le n, 1 \le j \le k\}$ and $B^* = \{v_{ij} | (v_{ij} \in B_i) \land (u_i \in A'), \text{ or } (v_{ij} \in A_i) \land (u_i \in B'), 1 \le i \le n, 1 \le j \le k\}.$



Chapter 4

Concluding Remarks

4.1 Summary of Results

In this thesis we give infinitely many equivalent versions of the Graceful Tree Conjecture. Precisely, with a fixed graceful tree T_k one may define the graceful T_k -factor. Then we prove that a tree with a graceful T_k -factor is strongly T_k -graceful if and only if its contraction tree is graceful. Using the above main result it is easy to identify new classes of graceful graphs.

4.2 Further Studies

It would be interesting to explore and identify more related concepts and relationships among them. For example, it is nice trying to figure out the specific situations when a strongly T_k -graceful graph admits the α -valuations, σ -valuations, ρ -valuations, which are hierarchically related to the graceful labelings (β -valuations). Also like many authors studied variants of the graceful labelings in literature, one may also study similar variants for strongly T_k -graceful labelings.



Bibliography

- R. E. L. Alfred and B. D. McKay. Graceful and harmonious labeling of trees. Bull. Inst. Appl. 23, 69-72, 1998.
- [2] G. S. Bloom, A Chronology of the Ringel-Kotzig Conjecture and the Continuing Quest to Call All Trees Graceful, Topics in Graph Theory (New York, 1977), 32-51, Ann. New York Acad. Sci., 328, New York Acad. Sci., New York, 1979
- [3] M. Burzio and G Ferrarese, The Subdivision of a Graceful Tree is a Graceful Tree, Discrete Math., 181, 1998, No. 1-3, 275-281
- [4] H. J. Broersma and C. Hoede, Another Equivalent of the Graceful Tree Conjecture, Ars Combin., 51, 1999, 183-192
- [5] J.C. Bermond, D. Sotteau, Graph decompositions and G-design, in: Proc. 5th British Combin. Conf., 1975, Congr. Numer. XV (1976) 53-72.

- [6] I. Cahit, Status of graceful tree conjecture in 1989, in: R. Bodendieck, R. Henn (Eds.), Topics in Combinatorics and Graph Theory, in: Physica, Heildeberg, 1990.
- [7] F. R. K. Chung and F. K. Hwang, Rotatable graceful graphs, Ars Combin., 11 (1981) 239-250
- [8] M. Edwards and L. Howard, A Survey of Graceful Trees, Atlantic Electronic Journal of Mathematics, Vol. 1, No. 1, 2006
- [9] J. A. Gallian, A dynamic survey of graph labeling, Electron. J. Comb. (2012) #DS6.
- [10] S. W. Golomb, How to Number a Graph, Graph Theory and Computing,R. C. Read, ed., Academic Press, New York 1972, 23-37
- [11] R. L. Graham and N. J. L. Sloane, On additive bases and harmonious graphs, SIAM J. Alg. Discrete Math., 1 (1980) 382-404
- [12] P. Hrnciar, A. Haviar, All trees of diameter five are graceful, Discrete Math. 233 (2001) 133-150.
- [13] C. Huang, A. Kotzig, A. Rosa, Further results on tree labellings, Utilitas Math. 21c (1982) 31-48.

- [14] D. J. Jin, F. H. Meng, J.G. Wang, The gracefulness of trees with diameter 4, Acta Sci. Natur. Univ. Jilin. (1993) 17-22.
- [15] K. M. Koh, D. G. Rogers, T. Tan, Two Theorems on Graceful Trees, Discrete Math., 25, 1979, No. 2, 141-148
- [16] M. Haheo, Strongly Graceful Graphs, Discrete Mathematics 29 (1980)39-46.
- [17] D. Morgan, All Lobsters with Perfect Matchings are Graceful, Electron. Note. Discrete Math., 11 (2002) 6 pp.
- [18] S. Poljak, M. Sura, An algorithm for graceful labeling of a class of symmetrical trees, Ars. Combin. 14 (1982) 57-66.
- [19] G. Ringel, Problem 25, in Theory of Graphs and its Applications, Proc. Symposium Smolenice 1963, Prague (1964) 162.
- [20] A. Rosa, On certain valuations of the vertices of a graph, in: Theory of Graphs (Proceedings of the Symposium, 1966, Rome), Gordon and Breach, New York, 1967, pp. 349-355.
- [21] G. Sethuraman and J. Heesintha, A New Class of Graceful Lobsters, J. Combin. Math. Combin. Computing, 67 (2008) 99-109

- [22] R. A. Stanton and C. R. Zanke, Labeling of Balanced Trees, Proceedings of the Forth South-Eastern Conference on Combinatorics, Graph Theory and Computing, Boca Raton, 1973
- [23] D. B. West, Introduction to Graph Theory, 2nd edn. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs (2001)
- [24] S.-L. Zhao, All trees of diameter four are graceful, Ann. New York Acad. Sci. 576 (1989) 700-706.
- [25] B. Yao, H. Cheng, M. Yao, M.-M. Zhao, A Note on Strongly Graceful Trees, Ars Combin., 92, 2009, 155-169